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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEBRASKA 
 

Case No.  8:07cv70 GERALD A. KELLOGG, An Individual, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

NIKE, INC., an Oregon Corporation and NIKE 
USA, INC., an Oregon Corporation, 

Defendants. 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT, 
JURY DEMAND & REQUEST FOR 

PLACE OF TRIAL 

 
 The Plaintiff, Gerald A. Kellogg, for his First Amended Complaint against the 

Defendants, Nike, Inc. and Nike USA, Inc. alleges and states:  

THE PARTIES 

1. Gerald A. Kellogg ("Mr. Kellogg") is an individual residing in Omaha, Nebraska. 

2. Upon information and belief, Defendants Nike, Inc. and Nike USA, Inc. (collectively, 

"Nike") are Oregon corporations, with their headquarters at One Bowerman Dr., Beaverton, 

Oregon. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This action is for patent infringement under the Patent Act of 1952, 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(a).  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Mr. Kellogg’s claims pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

4. Nike is doing business within this judicial district and/or is subject to personal 

jurisdiction within this judicial district, therefore subjecting it to jurisdiction and making venue 

proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391. 

MR. KELLOGG'S PATENT 

5. Sometime in the early 1990's, Mr. Kellogg conceived a new design for a vented cap 

which included four vents located at angles adjacent to a peak of the cap. 
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6. On December 14, 1995, Mr. Kellogg filed a design 

patent application for a patent for his invention of a “vented 

cap.” 

7. The patent application showed the vent design in 

the drawings provided with the design patent application.  An 

example of the vent design owned by Mr. Kellogg is shown in 

the adjacent Figure 1. 

8. On September 30, 1997, the U.S. Patent and 

Trademark Office (“USPTO”) duly and legally issued U.S. Design Patent No. 384,190 (“the '190 

patent”) to Mr. Kellogg. 

9. Mr. Kellogg is the current owner of all rights in his '190 patent.   

10. The '190 patent is in full force and effect and is valid. 

11. A true and correct copy of the '190 patent is attached to this First Amended 

Complaint as Exhibit 1. 

MR. KELLOGG'S COMMUNICATIONS WITH NIKE 

12. In early 1997, while his patent application was pending, Mr. Kellogg sent a written 

communication to Nike regarding his vented cap design and included with it drawings of his 

proposed design.  

13. On May 28, 1997, Nike informed Mr. Kellogg that they were not interested in pursing 

his vented cap design.  A true and correct copy of the letter received by Mr. Kellogg from Nike 

is attached to this First Amended Complaint as Exhibit 2. 

14. Subsequent to receiving the May 28, 1997 letter from Nike shown in Exhibit 2 and 

after the official issuance of his design patent, Mr. Kellogg again submitted his vented cap 

 
FIGURE 1 
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design to Nike, this time by an inventor's group based in Portland, Maine. 

15. The second communication from Mr. Kellogg to Nike included a reference to his 

patent number (U.S. Design Patent No. 384,190) and the issue 

date of his patent (September 30, 1997). 

16. A true and correct copy of the second submission to 

Nike is attached to this First Amended Complaint as Exhibit 3. 

The second communication from Mr. Kellogg to Nike also 

included a representation of his vented cap design and again set 

forth the angled configuration of vents at the upper portion of 

the cap (as shown in the adjacent Figure 2). 

17. Again, Nike indicated that it was not interested in 

Mr. Kellogg's vented cap design.   

NIKE MAKES ITS OWN VENTED CAP 

18. On November 20, 2002, Mr. Jon Kazuo Taguchi filed an application for a patent for 

his invention of a “portion of a cap.” 

19. On June 3, 2005, the USPTO issued U.S. Design Patent No. 475,178 (“the '178 

patent”) to Nike. 

20. A true and correct copy of the '178 patent is attached to this First Amended 

Complaint as Exhibit 4. 

21. On November 12, 2002, Mr. Taguchi assigned his rights in the Nike vented cap to 

Nike. 

22. Nike was aware of the Kellogg '190 patent as of the time it applied for design patent 

protection for the vented cap design. 

 
FIGURE 2 

KELLOGG VENT DESIGN 
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23. Nike did not disclose the existence of the Kellogg '190 patent to the USPTO during 

prosecution of its own patent application. 

24. Upon information and belief, Nike sold, and/or offered for sale, hats that infringe the 

'190 patent beginning in at least 2004.   

25. It is clear that an ordinary observer would find that Nike appropriated for itself the 

angled vent design from the Kellogg '190 patent.   

26. Although produced under different 

trade names, Nike sold hats which infringe the 

Kellogg '190 patent under at least the trademark 

"Nike DRI-FIT Featherlite Cap." 

27. A chart showing the similarities 

between the Kellogg '190 patent, the Nike '178 

patent and the Nike DRI-FIT Featherlite vented 

cap is attached to this First Amended Complaint 

as Exhibit 5 (and as shown in the adjacent 

Figure 3). 

COUNT I 
(PATENT INFRINGEMENT OF THE '190 PATENT UNDER 35 U.S.C. § 271(A) BY NIKE) 

 
28. Mr. Kellogg incorporates paragraphs 1-27 as if fully stated herein. 

29. Nike made, used, sold, or offered for sale, hats that incorporate the design of Mr. 

Kellogg's '190 patent.  

30. The foregoing activities of Nike constitute infringement of the '190 Patent in violation 

of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), and Nike will continue to infringe the '190 Patent until and unless 

enjoined by this Court.  

FIGURE 3 
NIKE VENTED CAP DESIGN 
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31. Nike has, by its conduct, caused Mr. Kellogg irreparable harm for which there is no 

adequate remedy at law.  

32. Mr. Kellogg has suffered damage as a result of Nike’s infringement to date. 

33. This is an exceptional case as that term is defined in 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

COUNT II   
(WILLFUL PATENT INFRINGEMENT OF THE '190 PATENT UNDER 35 U.S.C. § 271(A) BY NIKE) 

 
34. Mr. Kellogg incorporates paragraphs 1-33 as if fully stated herein. 

35. Nike made, used, sold, or offered for sale, hats that incorporate the design of Mr. 

Kellogg's '190 patent.  

36. The foregoing activities of Nike constitute infringement of the '190 Patent in violation 

of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), and Nike will continue to infringe the '190 Patent until and unless 

enjoined by this Court.  

37. Nike has, by its conduct, caused Mr. Kellogg irreparable harm for which there is no 

adequate remedy at law.  

38. Nike’s infringement has been willful by making, using, selling or offering hats that 

incorporate the design of Mr. Kellogg's '190 patent with knowledge that its conduct was an 

infringement of the Mr. Kellogg's '190 patent. 

39. Mr. Kellogg has suffered damage as a result of Nike’s willful infringement to date. 

40. This is an exceptional case as that term is defined in 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Mr. Kellogg respectfully requests that this Court: 

1. Permanently enjoin Nike and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, 

and those in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the Order, 

from infringing the '190 Patent and importing, manufacturing, using, selling and/or offering for 
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sale products or processes that infringe the '190 Patent. 

2. Award Mr. Kellogg monetary damages adequate to compensate Mr. Kellogg for past 

infringement consistent with Nike's profits on its sales of hats with the contested design pursuant 

to 35 U.S.C. § 289 but not less than a reasonable royalty under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

3. Treble the amount of damages assessed in view of the willful infringement by Nike, 

together with costs and prejudgment interest. 

4. Award Mr. Kellogg his reasonable attorneys' fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C § 285. 

5. Grant and award any and all such other, additional relief found necessary and proper 

under these circumstances. 

JURY DEMAND 

Mr. Kellogg demands a trial by jury pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38, as to all claims and 

issues in this lawsuit, and designates Omaha as the place for trial.   
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DATED this 6th day of April, 2007 

GERALD A. KELLOG, An Individual, 
Plaintiff, 

 
By: s/ Nora M. Kane     

Mark J. Peterson, #18850 
Nora M. Kane, #21562 
KOLEY JESSEN P.C., L.L.O. 
1125 South 103 Street, Suite 800 
Omaha, NE  68124 
(402) 390-9500; (402) 390-9005 (facsimile) 
Mark.Peterson@koleyjessen.com 
Nora.Kane@koleyjessen.com 

And 

G. Thomas Williams (MI-P53734) 
Mary C. Bonnema (MI-P48789) 
Counsel for Plaintiff (pro hac vice) 
MCGARRY BAIR PC 
32 Market Avenue SW, Suite 500 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
Tel: (616) 742-3500 
Fax: (616) 742-1010 
gtw@mcgarrybair.com 
mcb@mcgarrybair.com 
 

Counsel for Plaintiff Gerald A. Kellogg 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on this 6th day of April, 2007, I electronically filed 
the foregoing First Amended Complaint, Jury Demand & Request for Place of Trial using the 
CM/ECF system which sent notification of such filing to the following: 
 

 Charles F. Gotch  
 CASSEM, TIERNEY LAW FIRM  
 8805 Indian Hills Drive  
 Suite 300  
 Omaha, NE 68114  
 (402) 390-0300; (402) 390-9676 (fax) 
 cgotch@ctagd.com  

Michael K. Huffer  
CASSEM, TIERNEY LAW FIRM  
8805 Indian Hills Drive  
Suite 300  
Omaha, NE 68114  
(402) 390-0300; (402) 390-9676 (fax)  
mhuffer@ctagd.com  

s/ Nora M. Kane  
Nora M. Kane 
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